STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals  
Appeal from Charleston County  
Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

---

**RECEIVED**

**Oct 11 2022**

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ALLEN STONE,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

Opinion No. 2021-UP-372 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed November 3, 2021)

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000052

---

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

---

DAVID ALEXANDER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

**ISSUE PRESENTED**

In this PCR case where petitioner Allen Stone won a new probation revocation hearing, did the Court of Appeals fail to follow the standard of review when it reversed the PCR judge's determination that counsel's deficient performance prejudiced petitioner when she failed to provide the judge with all relevant information at the initial probation revocation hearing?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 11, 2014, respondent Allen Stone pled guilty to second-degree burglary before the Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr., in Charleston County. App. 19. Thomas Richard Waring, II, represented the State and Patricia Ann Kennedy represented Stone. App. 19. Judge Nicholson sentenced Stone to fifteen years' imprisonment suspended upon the service of five years' probation. App. 48, l. 22 – 49, l. 1.

On July 26, 2016, a probation revocation hearing was held before the Honorable Kristi Lea Harrington. App. 52. Agent Holmes appeared for the department and Kelly Kassis Solar represented Stone. App. 52. Judge Harrington revoked Stone in full. App. 59, ll. 10 – 15. Judge Harrington held a hearing on Stone's motion to reconsider on December 5, 2016, but denied the motion by written Order dated the same day. App. 61. App. 80.

On February 22, 2017, Stone filed a PCR application. App. 116. On March 1, 2018, the Honorable Thomas A. Russo held a hearing on Stone's application. App. 152. Rasheeda Cleveland represented the State and James K. Falk represented Stone. App. 152. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Russo granted Stone a new probation revocation hearing from the bench. App. 192, l. 21 – 193, l. 17. On June 25, 2018, Judge Russo entered a formal written Order. App. 196. On October 1, 2018, Judge Russo denied the State's motion to alter or amend. App. 216.

The State's petition for certiorari was transferred to the Court of Appeals and on November 25, 2020, the Court of Appeals granted the petition and ordered further briefing. On November 3, 2021, without oral argument, a panel of the Court of Appeals consisting of Judges Konduros, Hill, and Hewitt reversed the PCR judge's grant of relief. Stone v. State, 2021-UP-372 (S.C. Ct. App. Nov. 3, 2021). On September 8, 2022, this Court granted certiorari.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The appellate court defers to a PCR court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016) (citing Jordan v. State, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013)).

## ARGUMENT

In this PCR case where petitioner Allen Stone won a new probation revocation hearing, the Court of Appeals failed to follow the standard of review when it reversed the PCR judge's determination that counsel's deficient performance prejudiced petitioner when she failed to provide the judge with all relevant information at the initial probation revocation hearing.

### *Factual and Procedural Background*

On August 11, 2014, Respondent Allen Stone ("Stone") pled guilty to second-degree burglary before Judge Nicholson. App. 19. App. 22, ll. 1 – 6. App. 34, ll. 16 – 19. Judge Nicholson sentenced Stone to fifteen years' imprisonment suspended to five years' probation. App. 48, l. 22 – 49, l. 1. Stone violated his probation and an administrative hearing was held on May 17, 2016. App. 75. Present at the hearing were Stone, Kathleen Nadobny (the administrative hearing officer), and Christian Aulbach (the probation agent). App. 75. The hearing officer recommended revocation for one year and then continuing on probation. App. 75. App. 65, ll. 2 – 14. App. 68, ll. 13 – 16.

Approximately two months after the administrative hearing, Stone appeared before Judge Harrington for a probation revocation hearing. App. 52. The probation agent at the hearing before Judge Harrington was a different agent than the one at the administrative hearing. App. 52. After reciting the violations, this agent told Judge Harrington, "The agent is recommending a revocation and terminate." App. 54, ll. 6 – 7. After hearing from Stone and counsel Kelly Solar ("Solar"), Judge Harrington revoked Stone's probation in full. App. 59, ll. 10 – 15. At no point during the hearing did Solar tell Judge Harrington about the hearing officer's recommendation of a one-year revocation. App. 52 – 59. Revocation counsel Solar filed a motion for reconsideration which Judge Harrington heard and where Solar told the court about the initial

recommendation of a one-year revocation, but Judge Harrington did not alter her ruling. App. 61 – 80.

At the PCR hearing, Judge Russo was deeply troubled by Solar's failure to tell Judge Harrington about the administrative hearing officer's recommendation at the initial hearing. App. 189, l. 14 – 193, l. 2. Judge Russo pointed out that circuit judges "have limited information in these hearings" and rely on the parties to give the court "the full picture." App. 190, ll. 1 – 12. He noted that the probation agent does not "always agree with the hearing officer's recommendation." App. 190, ll. 7 – 12. Judge Russo then stated:

But as I sit on these matters I want to know the hearing officer, what the recommendation is because the hearing officer hears a lot more during those hearings than simply the agent's position. And so the agent didn't bother to inform the Court that there was a recommendation from the hearing officer of a one year revocation. He simply stated the agent is recommending a revocation term and give him credit for time he has served and was silent as to any recommendation from the hearing officer.

Now, I do agree with what Ms. Kennedy mentioned earlier regarding or Ms. Solar mentioned earlier with regards to the judge having the hearing officer's report. And I'm confident she did for the probation matter. What I don't know is if she read it or if she saw it or sometimes things get lost in these packets that are presented and at that point when the officer—agent said that the agent recommends revocation and terminated, **at that point for Ms. Solar to mention the fact that there was a recommendation by the hearing officer quite different than that even though they were seeking something less than the hearing officer recommendation.**

App. 190, l. 13 – 191, l. 13 (emphasis added). Judge Russo further reasoned that even if counsel's goal was to have Stone continue on probation, "once the other side comes out and is actually recommending a 15-year revocation, it's incumbent at that point that you got to bring up that hearing officer's recommendation so that the judge if he or she has not looked at that report will be aware of it." App. 191, ll. 17 – 22.

The PCR court was also well aware that Solar made the hearing officer's recommendation known to Judge Harrington during the reconsideration hearing. App. 192, l. 21 – 193, l. 11. Judge Russo said that “these very things that I am mentioning now were then brought up and detailed in that motion to reconsider and the judge clearly had the authority to consider it or not consider it.” App. 192, l. 21 – 193, l. 1. But bringing this up only during the reconsideration was still deemed insufficient by the PCR judge, who found that had counsel performed adequately at the first hearing, it would have made the mitigation presentation more effective and reduced the likelihood of a full revocation. App. 193, ll. 5 – 24. Even the Attorney General at the PCR hearing admitted that Judge Harrington's full revocation seemed “unduly harsh.” App. 189, ll. 6 – 8.

The Court of Appeals reversed Judge Russo's grant of PCR relief. The court held that counsel made a strategic decision not to make Judge Harrington aware of the one-year recommendation. The court also held that the revocation judge was aware of the hearing officer's recommendation. The court also held that revocation counsel was not ineffective for failing to explain that felony charges arose before probation and in failing to explain his absences from court.

*The Court of Appeals' Did Not Follow the Standard of Review*

The Court of Appeals failed to follow the highly deferential standard of review for PCR cases. Appellate courts defer to a PCR judge's findings of fact and will uphold them if evidence in the record supports them. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016) (citing Jordan v. State, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013)). Judge Russo's grant of a new probation revocation hearing for petitioner Stone was supported by evidence and inferences below and should have been upheld on appeal.

In South Carolina, probationers have a right to counsel and our courts apply the familiar Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) test for determining ineffective assistance claims. Turner v. State, 384 S.C. 451, 455-56, 682 S.E.2d 792, 794 (2009). The right to effective assistance flows from the due process clause and, in South Carolina, is analyzed using Strickland. Turner at 455-56, 682 S.E.2d at 794. Here, Solar’s failure to provide the relevant information necessary to challenge the agent’s request to revoke in full was deficient performance. Judge Russo’s ruling was supported by the evidence and this Court should correct the Court of Appeals misapplication of the deferential standard of review.

In a case analogous to respondent’s, the Fifth Circuit recognized that failing to challenge inaccuracies in a presentence investigation report constituted ineffective assistance. See Spriggs v. Collins, 993 F.2d 85 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1993) abrogation recognized by Dale v. Quarterman, 553 F.3d 876 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2008). In Spriggs, the presentence investigation report “claims that Spriggs had ‘a long history of assaultive and aggressive behavior.’” Spriggs, 993 F.2d at 89 (emphasis in original). The Fifth Circuit examined Spriggs’ record and determined he had no convictions for “assaultive” actions and the report improperly relied on unadjudicated criminal conduct. Id. The court held trial counsel performed deficiently for not objecting to this mischaracterization of Spriggs’ record. Id.

While Spriggs could not demonstrate prejudice—primarily because he had been convicted of a “senseless murder,” the Fifth Circuit’s analysis is instructive here. Id. at 90. Spriggs’ attorney left unchallenged an error in the sentencing information provided to the court. Here, Stone’s attorney failed to make the court aware that the probation agent was seeking something far more harsh than what had been recommended by the probation hearing officer. As

Judge Russo reasoned, making sure the judge at a very quick revocation hearing knows about a favorable recommendation is critical.

The Court of Appeals held that revocation counsel had a valid strategic reason for not informing Judge Harrington of the hearing officer's revocation—that Stone wanted to avoid even a one-year revocation. This finding on appeal does not comport with the deferential standard of review. If any evidence in the record supports Judge Russ's ruling, it should be affirmed. See Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016). Revocation counsel did claim the strategy referenced by the court at the PCR hearing. However, Judge Russo's holding is more nuanced and requires deference.

While revocation counsel may have had that strategy entering the hearing, Judge Russo found that at the point the agent asked Judge Harrington to revoke in full, it became necessary to inform the judge of the hearing officer's recommendation. App. 190, l. 13 – 191, l. 13. Judge Russo recognized, in the fluid and rough process that often characterizes revocation hearings, revocation counsel needed to react quickly and emphasize this point to Judge Harrington. Relying on the fact that the hearing officer's recommendation was in a stack of paperwork sitting on the bench was not a valid strategy at that point in the hearing.

As the PCR judge recognized, the speed with which probation revocation hearings are conducted does not always match the seriousness of the punishment a defendant faces. In Barber v. Nelson, 451 F.2d 1017, 1018 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1971), the defendant began a probation revocation hearing *pro se*. A public defender in the courtroom “made his presence known” but “came to the hearing with no knowledge of the case save the misinformation from the probation officer that revocation would be sought because of [the defendant's] failure to make restitution.” Barber, 451 F.2d at 1018-19. The Government was seeking revocation because the defendant had

allegedly been beating his wife, not because of failure to pay restitution. Id. The court reasoned that when “the revocation hearing took an entirely different turn,” counsel performed deficiently by failing to ask for a continuance and preparing for the more serious allegation. Id. at 1019. The court reversed. Id. The Barber analysis applies here to Solar’s failures when the hearing “took an entirely different turn.”

The Court of Appeals also erred in finding that because revocation counsel brought the one-year recommendation to Judge Harrington’s attention at the reconsideration hearing, Stone cannot show prejudice. This determination by the Court undermines its earlier finding of a valid trial strategy and shows that Judge Russo was correct. If revocation counsel felt the need to emphasize the one-year recommendation at the reconsideration hearing, then the same logic applies to the initial hearing once it became apparent that Judge Harrington might revoke in full. Revocation counsel cannot have it both ways. Judge Russo found that had counsel performed effectively at the first hearing, it would have made the mitigation presentation more effective and reduced the likelihood of a full revocation. App. 193, ll. 5 – 24. This finding by the PCR judge was entitled to deference and the Court of Appeals erred in reversing.

The Court of Appeals also erred in misapplying the standard of review to the PCR court’s findings concerning the failure of revocation counsel to stress to Judge Harrington that Stone’s felony arrest was for pre-conviction conduct. The PCR judge found that Solar performed deficiently when she failed to clarify a mistake made by the probation agent at the revocation hearing. App. 201 – 02. The agent told Judge Harrington that “**since being on probation**, [Stone] was arrested eight times.” App. 53, ll. 19 – 21 (emphasis added). The agent then listed the arrests. App. 53, l. 19 – 54, l. 5. By far, the most serious arrest listed by the agent was for third-degree burglary. App. 53, l. 19 – 54, l. 5. The agent listed the dates for each arrest and

when she got to the burglary, she said, “November 13<sup>th</sup> of 2015, for burglary third charge, which he was originally arrested for back in October 11<sup>th</sup> of 2013.” App. 53, l. 19 – 54, l. 5.

The original arrest date for the burglary charge was in 2013, which was before Stone pled guilty in 2014. App. 19. Therefore, Stone had not been arrested for a crime that he allegedly committed “since being on probation” and the inclusion of this arrest in the agent’s list likely gave Judge Harrington a false impression. Revocation counsel did nothing to correct this error.

At the end of the hearing, Judge Harrington asked, “He’s had some arrests then?” and the agent responded, “Yes, he’s had several arrests.” App. 59, ll. 6 – 7. Judge Harrington then asked revocation counsel if she had anything further, giving her another opportunity to correct this mistake, but she failed to do so. App. 59, ll. 8 – 9. Judge Harrington then revoked Stone in full. App. 59, ll. 10 – 15. At the reconsideration hearing, Stone attempted to clarify this fact for Judge Harrington. App. 66, ll. 1 – 11. However, revocation counsel did not tell the judge that Stone’s assertions were accurate.

“[T]he authority of the court of general sessions to revoke such suspension of sentence may not be capriciously or arbitrarily exercised, but should always be predicated upon an evidentiary showing of fact tending to establish violation of the conditions.” State v. White, 218 S.C. 130, 135, 61 S.E.2d 754, 756 (1950). Solar’s failure to inform Judge Harrington that the serious arrest was before Stone’s guilty plea led to the Judge’s decision to revoke in full not being based on a correct evidentiary record. “[T]he authority of the revoking court should always be predicated upon an evidentiary showing of fact tending to establish a violation of the conditions.” State v. Hamilton, 333 S.C. 642, 648, 511 S.E.2d 94, 97 (Ct. App. 1999).

Without revocation counsel confirming this fact for the judge, the court was only left with Stone’s claims that went unverified by his attorney. Stone was an alcoholic with mental

health problems. Judge Russo correctly found that revocation counsel needed to be a strong advocate on this crucial point during the hearing and could not leave it to her client to convince the judge. These facts and findings by Judge Russo were entitled to deference from the Court of Appeals.

Counsel's limited performance at the hearings is analogous to the performance of counsel found to be ineffective in Nichols v. State, 308 S.C. 334, 417 S.E.2d 860 (1992). In Nichols, the probationer did not have a job and had avoided his probation officer was afraid of being put in jail because he had not made ordered restitution payments. Nichols at 336, 417 S.E.2d at 861. After the probationer told the judge he could not make the payments because of unemployment, the judge asked defense counsel what he had learned about his client. Id. Defense counsel responded by saying, "That's basically what he tells me, Your Honor. That he didn't go see him because he couldn't find a job and it just got to be a—." Id.

The Nichols Court noted, "Other than the following exchange between the court and defense counsel, the hearing record reflects no other testimony, evidence, statements or arguments by petitioner's counsel or counsel for the state nor findings of fact by the court." Id. Because a probationer cannot be revoked if he lacks the ability to pay and defense counsel did nothing to make this point to the revocation judge, this Court reversed the PCR court's refusal to grant relief. Id. at 337-38, 417 S.E.2d at 862. Like the attorney in Nichols, Solar failed to correct mistaken information and make the correct argument to the revocation judge.

Regarding the portion of Court of Appeals' Opinion addressing Stone's court absences, it is clear from the record in this case that the PCR court was primarily concerned with the first two deficiencies. Even if this finding is incorrect, the remainder of the PCR Court's Order is still entitled to deference and provides sufficient support for granting relief. The Court of Appeals

health problems. Judge Russo correctly found that revocation counsel needed to be a strong advocate on this crucial point during the hearing and could not leave it to her client to convince the judge. These facts and findings by Judge Russo were entitled to deference from the Court of Appeals.

Counsel's limited performance at the hearings is analogous to the performance of counsel found to be ineffective in Nichols v. State, 308 S.C. 334, 417 S.E.2d 860 (1992). In Nichols, the probationer did not have a job and had avoided his probation officer was afraid of being put in jail because he had not made ordered restitution payments. Nichols at 336, 417 S.E.2d at 861. After the probationer told the judge he could not make the payments because of unemployment, the judge asked defense counsel what he had learned about his client. Id. Defense counsel responded by saying, "That's basically what he tells me, Your Honor. That he didn't go see him because he couldn't find a job and it just got to be a—." Id.

The Nichols Court noted, "Other than the following exchange between the court and defense counsel, the hearing record reflects no other testimony, evidence, statements or arguments by petitioner's counsel or counsel for the state nor findings of fact by the court." Id. Because a probationer cannot be revoked if he lacks the ability to pay and defense counsel did nothing to make this point to the revocation judge, this Court reversed the PCR court's refusal to grant relief. Id. at 337-38, 417 S.E.2d at 862. Like the attorney in Nichols, Solar failed to correct mistaken information and make the correct argument to the revocation judge.