STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Oct 12 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

On Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Thomas A. Russo, Post-Conviction Relief Judge
Kristi L. Harrington, Probation Revocation Judge
Appellate Case No. 2022-000052

ALLEN STONE,

Petitioner,

v.

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100108

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **The Court of Appeals’ properly reversed an erroneous grant of post-conviction relief because the Court of Appeals correctly determined the post-conviction relief court erred by finding probation revocation counsel was ineffective for failing to advise the court of the administrative hearing officer’s recommendation of a one-year partial revocation, failing to advise the court that Stone was not arrested on a felony charge while on probation, and failing to supply the court with mitigating information regarding Stone’s two arrests for failure to appear because counsel provided a reasonable strategic basis for her decisions and the record directly refutes these allegations.**

In reversing the post-conviction relief court, the Court of Appeals properly reviewed the entire record, applied the applicable standard of review and case law, and determined the post-conviction relief court erred as a matter of law and fact when granting Stone a new probation revocation proceeding. This decision was correct and should stand.

In granting relief, the post-conviction relief court erroneously found probation revocation counsel was ineffective for failing to advise the court of the administrative hearing officer’s recommendation of a one-year partial revocation, failing to advise the court that Stone was not arrested on a felony charge while on probation, and failing to supply the court with mitigating information regarding Stone’s two arrests for failure to appear. However, these findings are premised on a flawed legal analysis where the post-conviction relief court disregarded the Strickland⁴ standard requiring an analysis of both deficiency and prejudice, ignored counsel’s strategic basis for her decisions, and disregarded uncontroverted evidence in the record directly refuting the grounds on which relief was granted. Rather than giving the record and counsel’s articulated strategic basis the deference and weight required under the standard of review for collateral proceedings and longstanding case law, Judge Russo, finding *he* would have acted differently had the probation revocation hearing been before *him* rather than Judge Harrington,

⁴ Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S 668 (1984).

reached incorrect legal conclusions that are inconsistent with the Strickland standard while acknowledging on the record when granting relief that uncontroverted evidence in the record refuted these allegations. Thus, in granting relief, Judge Russo essentially acknowledged relief was not supported by the record but nonetheless granted relief anyway based on his determination that he would not have acted in the same manner as a different circuit court judge. This grant of relief was erroneous and was not supported by the record or law.

The Court of Appeals recognized this and corrected these errors of law and fact when it reversed the post-conviction relief court. The Court of Appeals properly conducted a review of the record in its entirety (which the post-conviction relief court was required but nonetheless failed to do) and came to the only logical conclusion—that the post-conviction relief court erred in determining counsel was constitutionally ineffective, as Stone failed to establish either deficiency of counsel or prejudice. The Court of Appeals was correct in its reversal of the lower court.

Stone, like all post-conviction relief applicants, had the burden of proving the allegations in his application. Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985); Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC. “In South Carolina . . . all persons charged with probation violations have a right to counsel and must be informed of this right pursuant to court rules and case law.” Turner v. State, 384 S.C. 451, 454, 682 S.E.2d 792, 793 (2009) (citing Barlet v. State, 288 S.C. 481, 483, 343 S.E.2d 620, 621 (1986); Rule 602(a), SCACR). Although a probationer does not have a Sixth Amendment right to counsel, the same traditional Strickland standard applies, requiring an applicant asserting his probation revocation counsel was ineffective to establish both that counsel’s performance was deficient and that he was prejudiced by this deficiency. Turner, 384 S.C. at 455, 682 S.E.2d at 794 (“We now hold

that because a probationer has a right to counsel, albeit not a Sixth Amendment right, the same analysis for ineffectiveness that applies in other PCR proceedings involving claims against counsel should, by analogy, apply in PCR proceedings involving claims against probation counsel.”). Under Strickland, an applicant must first prove that counsel’s performance was deficient as measured by its “reasonableness under professional norms.” Id. Second, an applicant must establish that counsel’s deficient performance prejudiced the applicant such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-18, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989).

As explained in Strickland,

Judicial scrutiny of counsel’s performance must be highly deferential. It is all too tempting for a defendant to second-guess counsel's assistance after conviction or adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel’s defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable. A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel’s challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel’s perspective at the time. Because of the difficulties inherent in making the evaluation, a court must indulge a strong presumption that counsel’s conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance; that is, the defendant must overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action “might be considered sound trial strategy.” There are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. Even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way.

466 U.S. at 689 (citations omitted). Therefore, counsel’s strategic decisions will not be found to be deficient performance if he or she articulates a valid reason for employing the strategy. E.g., Stone v. State, 419 S.C. 370, 384, 798 S.E.2d 561, 569 (2017); Smith v. State, 386 S.C. 562, 567-68, 689 S.E.2d 629, 632-33 (2010); Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 110, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000); Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 548, 419 S.E.2d 778, 779 (1992).

In granting relief, the post-conviction relief court ignored counsel's strategic reason for her actions and disregarded uncontroverted evidence in the record conclusively refuting these allegations. As Stone failed to establish deficiency or prejudice, the post-conviction relief court's grant of relief was without legal or evidentiary support and required reversal. The Court of Appeals did not err.

- A. The Court of Appeals correctly found the post-conviction relief court erred by granting relief where Stone failed to establish probation revocation counsel was ineffective for failing to advise the court of the Administrative Hearing Officer's recommendation of a one-year revocation because the court refused to consider counsel's articulated and reasonable strategy and this allegation is directly refuted by the record.**

In reversing the post-conviction relief court's grant of relief for failing to advise the revocation court of Administrative Hearing Officer's recommendation of a one-year revocation, the Court of Appeals found the post-conviction relief court ignored counsel's articulated strategy and clear evidentiary support showing the revocation court was already aware of the Administrative Hearing Officer's recommendation. These findings are correct.

In its order granting relief, the post-conviction relief court found, "Attorney Solar failed to advise the Court at Applicant's probation revocation hearing that the administrative Hearing Officer recommended a partial one-year revocation and that Applicant thereafter continue on probation. At the July 26, 2016, hearing, Agent Holmes of South Carolina's Office of Probation, Parole and Pardon advised the Court that *the agent is recommending a revocation and terminate.* (July 26, 2018 transcript p. 3 1. 6-7). Neither Agent Holmes nor Attorney Solar advised the Court of the Hearing Officer's substantially more lenient recommendation." (App. 201) (emphasis in original).

Initially, this ruling was legally erroneous because it failed to consider the reasonable strategic decision made by counsel—specifically made at Stone’s request—which removes any possibility that her conduct was deficient. See Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 458, 710 S.E.2d 60, 65 (2011) (emphasizing reviewing courts should not second-guess counsel’s reasoned strategic decisions and if counsel provides a reasonable strategic basis, such conduct will not be deemed deficient performance). At the evidentiary hearing, counsel Solar testified Stone specifically asked her not to inform the court of the Administrative Hearing Officer’s recommendation because Stone wanted a time-served sentence rather than the one year of active incarceration as was recommended by the Administrative Hearing Officer. Counsel Solar testified:

I did not -- *I didn't intentionally* --I did not tell her that for two reasons. No. 1, she gets all the paperwork in front of her so she gets a copy of the administrative hearing summary. The reason I think that I would not have mentioned is because we were not asking for a year. We were asking for just a continuation of probation. He did not want to -- I asked him would you be willing to say we have agreed upon the year. *He said no, see if we can get less than a year.* Time served and continue. So I didn’t necessarily want the year so I didn’t mention it. But it was right there in front of her. She had the paperwork in front of her and when you give a probation violation, the packet you get, the violation report, the administrative hearing summary, the judge also get records. So it was there in front of her. But I didn’t tell her that.

(App. 164-65) (emphasis added).

That’s why I wouldn’t – didn’t necessarily mention it. Because if we were agreeing to a year I would tell the judge, Judge, the recommendation is one year. We are in agreement, everybody is in agreement and we would ask that you go along with it. I didn’t necessarily mention it because we were asking for a continuance, just to have his probation continued. In addition, she has the recommendation in front of her. It’s not that she wouldn’t have known it. Obviously the judge would have looked through the violation report and the administrative hearing. It is right in front of her so she would have had that recommendation.

(App. 170).

Despite this clear strategy articulated by counsel to avoid *any* term of imprisonment at the express request of her client, the post-conviction relief court erroneously refused to consider counsel's reasonable strategic decision and judgment in not informing the court of this recommendation. "A PCR court's analysis of counsel's strategic decisions must be 'highly deferential to counsel's judgment, and "a fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight. A court must indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." Buckson v. State, 423 S.C. 313, 320-21, 815 S.E.2d 436, 440 (2018) (citing Strickland) (internal citations and quotations omitted). By refusing to consider counsel's reasonable strategic decision, the post-conviction relief court erred as a matter of law. The Court of Appeals correctly recognized the evidence and the law required reversal on this ground and properly reversed the post-conviction relief court.

Moreover, the Court of Appeals also appropriately determined the post-conviction relief court's finding counsel was constitutionally ineffective was also incongruent with the record directly refuting this allegation. As counsel Solar mentioned numerous times at the evidentiary hearing, Judge Harrington had a full copy of Stone's records, including the administrative hearing report that recommended terminating one year and continuing with probation. (App. 164-65, 170). Judge Harrington also explicitly stated she knew there was a one-year recommendation at the time of the revocation hearing based on the paperwork. (App. 65). Perplexingly, Judge Russo acknowledged Judge Harrington had this information before her, but nevertheless disregarded this evidence directly refuting this allegation by erroneously speculating as to whether Judge Harrington had read the report, essentially assuming that another circuit court judge failed to do her due diligence and read the information provided to her—basic

aspects of her job as a circuit court judge. App. 189-91. Instead of giving weight to the uncontroverted evidence that established Judge Harrington was provided with the recommendation for a one-year revocation and had reviewed this information before making her decision, Judge Russo based his ruling on his wants and preferences rather than the record. See e.g., App. 190 (“But as I sit on these matters I want to know the hearing officer, what the recommendation is because the hearing officer hears a lot more during those hearings than simply the agent’s position.”). Despite his “confidence” that Judge Harrington had the report before her, Judge Russo astonishingly still granted relief on the basis that counsel failed to make Judge Harrington aware of the very information it was “confident” she already had, and that Judge Harrington stated she already had. App. 190-91. The Court of Appeals again correctly reviewed the record, applied proper law, and determined reversal was necessary.

Additionally, the Court of Appeals properly determined Stone cannot establish any prejudice from counsel’s strategic decision not to highlight the one-year revocation recommendation, as counsel informed the court *three* times that the Administrative Hearing Officer only recommended one year of revocation at the reconsideration hearing. (App. 65, 68). Despite repeatedly informing the court of this recommendation—which Judge Harrington was not bound to accept—Judge Harrington nevertheless elected not to alter the probation revocation, which was within her discretion to do. See State v. Green, 337 S.C. 67, 71, 522 S.E.2d 602, 604 (Ct. App. 1999) (noting the State’s sentence recommendation is not binding on the trial judge). Accordingly, the post-conviction relief court erroneously ignored the transcript of the motion to reconsider hearing directly refuting any prejudice. See Suber v. State, 371 S.C. 554, 558, 640 S.E.2d 884, 886 (2007) (“In determining guilty plea issues, it is proper to consider the guilty plea transcript as well as evidence at the PCR hearing.”).

In conclusion, the Court of Appeals rightly determined the post-conviction relief court's finding that counsel was deficient for failing to inform the court of the Administrative Hearing Officer's recommendation was not supported by the record which conclusively established not only that Judge Harrington had this very information already, but also that counsel informed the court numerous times during a subsequent hearing of this information. Moreover, the Court of Appeals correctly found counsel had a reasonable strategic basis for not informing the court of the recommendation, which was at the direct instruction of her client. Finally, the Court of Appeals properly found Stone could not establish prejudice, as counsel explicitly told the court of the one-year recommendation multiple times at the subsequent motion to reconsider hearing and the result of the proceeding was the same—revocation in full. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals properly reversed the post-conviction relief court's erroneous grant of relief based on multiple errors of law and fact.

B. The Court of Appeals properly found the post-conviction relief court erred by granting relief where Stone failed to establish probation revocation counsel was ineffective for failing to advise the court that Stone had not been arrested for any felony charges while on probation because this allegation is directly refuted by the record.

In reversing the post-conviction relief court's grant of relief for failing to advise the revocation court that Stone had not been arrested for any felony charges while on probation, the Court of Appeals found the post-conviction relief court ignored clear evidentiary support showing the revocation court was already aware of this information both at the initial hearing and the motion to reconsider hearing. These findings are correct.

In its order granting relief, the post-conviction relief court found, "Attorney Solar was ineffective for failing to clarify to the Court that Applicant was not arrested for a felony charge while he was on probation." (App. 201). This ruling is erroneous, as the record directly refutes

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